IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

AL POLLER and DEB POLLER
Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

OKOBOJI CLASSIC CARS, LLC,
Defendant-Appellee,

SUPREME COURT NO. 19-
0875

DICKINSON County No.
LACV027296

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR
DICKINSON COUNTY
THE HONORABLE DON E. COURTNEY

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MATTHEW G. SEASE
SEASE & WADDING
The Rumely Building
104 SW 4th Street, Suite A
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Phone: (515) 883-2222
Fax: (515) 883-2233
msease@seasewadding.com
ATTORNEYS APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Did the district court err in finding that OCC did not violate Iowa Chapter 573?

Cases

- Clark v. Luepke*, 809 P.2d 752 (Wash. Ct. App. 1991)
Harrington v. Univ. of N. Iowa, 726 N.W.2d 363 (Iowa 2007)
I-5 Truck Sales & Service Co. v. Underwood, 645 P.2d 716 (Wash. Ct. App. 1982)
In re Bailey, 326 B.R. 750 (Bankr. S.D. Iowa 2004)
Jagodzinski v. Jessup, 572 N.W.2d 515 (Wis. Ct. App. 1997)
Levin v. Lewis, 431 A.2d 157 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1981) (per curiam)
Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002)
Metz v. Amoco Oil Co., 581 N.W.2d 597 (Iowa 1998)
Morris v. Gregory, 661 A.2d 712 (Md. 1995)
Schreiber v. Kelsey, 62 Cal.App. 3d Supp. 45, 133 Cal.Rptr. 508 (1976)
Schuster v. Dragone Classic Motor Cars, Inc., 98 F.Supp.2d 441 (S.D.N.Y. 2000)
State ex rel. Miler v. Cutty's Des Moines Camping Club, Inc. 694 N.W.2d 518 (Iowa 2005)
State v. Goddard, No. 14-1076, 2015 WL 3914327 (Iowa App. June 24, 2015)
Webb v. Ray, 688 P. 2d 534 (Wash. Ct. App. 1984)

Statutes

- Iowa Code § 321.1(42)(a)
Iowa Code § 4.1(33)
Iowa Code § 537B.2
Iowa Code § 537B.3
Iowa Code § 537B.6
Iowa Code § 714.16
Iowa Code § 714H.5
N.J. Stat. Ann § 39:3-4.

Other Authorities

Automobile Repair Shop's Duty to Provide Customer with Information, Estimates, ore Replaced Parts, under Automobile Repair Consumer Protection Act, 78 A.L.R. 6th 97 (originally published 2012)

Rules

Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

II. Did the district court err in awarding damages on OCC's breach of contract claim?

Cases

Bank of the West v. Kline, 782 N.W.2d 453 (Iowa 2010)

Harrington v. Univ. of N. Iowa, 726 N.W.2d 363 (Iowa 2007)

Kaskin v. John Lynch Chevrolet-Pontiac Sales, Inc., 767 N.W.2d 394 (Wis. App. 2009)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002)

Metz v. Amoco Oil Co., 581 N.W.2d 597 (Iowa 1998)

Milholin v. Vorhies, 320 N.W.2d 552 (Iowa 1982)

Molo Oil Co. v. River City Ford Truck Sales, Inc., 578 N.W.2d 222 (Iowa 1998)

Niederhasuer v. Jackson Dairy Co., 237 N.W. 222 (Iowa 1931)

Osteen v. Morris, 481 So.2d, 1287 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1987).

Pike v. King, 16 Iowa 49 (1864)

Rick v. Sprague, 706 N.W.2d 717 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Goddard, No. 14-1076, 2015 WL 3914327 (Iowa App. June 24, 2015)

Other Authorities

Automobile Repair Shop's Duty to Provide Customer with Information, Estimates, ore Replaced Parts, under Automobile Repair Consumer Protection Act, 78 A.L.R. 6th 97 (originally published 2012)

Rules

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this case as it presents issues of substantial first impression. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2). Despite being adopted in 1990, Iowa Chapter 537B, the “Motor Vehicle Service Trade Practices Act,” has never been addressed by the Iowa Courts. This is significant because all motor vehicle restoration, repair and service providers are required to comply with the terms of Iowa Chapter 537B, yet no guidance has been provided to what protection is available to consumers who have been wronged by deceptive practices or acts. This case provides an opportunity for the Supreme Court to establish what is required for all motor vehicle restoration, repair and service providers in the State of Iowa.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is an appeal following a bench trial involving the restoration of an antique car brought by the owners of the car, Al and Deb Poller (collectively the “Pollers”) against the car restoration company, Okoboji Classic Cars, LLC (hereinafter “OCC”). The Pollers alleged several violations of Iowa’s Consumer Fraud Act regarding the restoration of

their vehicle. OCC counterclaimed against the Pollers for breach of contract based upon unpaid bills. Ultimately, the district court found in favor of OCC on all grounds.

Course of the Proceedings

On April 8, 2016, the Pollers filed an amended petition against OCC asserting several claims against OCC regarding the restoration of their 1931 Chevrolet. (APP-5, Amended Petition). On May 11, 2016, OCC filed a motion to dismiss the petition. (APP-13, Motion to Dismiss). The district court denied OCC's motion to dismiss and allowed all claims to continue. (APP-18, Order re: Motion to dismiss). OCC then filed an answer denying all claims and asserted a breach of contract counterclaim. (APP-27, Answer). At the conclusion of discovery, the Pollers moved for summary judgment on their asserted violations of Iowa Chapter 537B and the Iowa Consumer Protection Act. (APP-36, Plaintiff Motion for Summary Judgment). On December 15, 2017, OCC filed its own motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of the Pollers' claims and seeking summary judgment on its breach of contract claim. (APP-44, Defendant Motion for Summary Judgment). Both motions for summary judgment were ultimately denied by the district court on

January 25, 2018. (APP-55, Order re: Summary Judgment). The matter proceeded to a bench trial on January 30-31, 2018. (APP-84, Order following Trial). After hearing all testimony, the district court entered an order on July 31, 2018 finding in favor of OCC on all counts. (APP-84, Order following Trial). On August 10, 2018, OCC filed an application to enlarge to seek an award of attorney's fees. (APP-104, Motion to Enlarge). The district court denied this request on May 1, 2019. (APP-106, Order re: Motion to Enlarge). The Pollers filed a timely notice of appeal on May 24, 2019. (APP-108, Notice of Appeal).

Statement of the Facts

Approximately, 20 years ago, the Pollers purchased a 1931 Chevrolet 4 door Sedan ("31 Chevy"). (Vol I. Tr. P. 5). The '31 Chevy was purchased as a restoration project for the Pollers in their home state of New Jersey. (Vol I. Tr. P. 5-6). Beginning in the late 1990s, the Pollers began restoration with a company in New Jersey, but ultimately suspended the process after spending approximately \$10,000.00 and focused on raising their family. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 6-7). At this time, the car had been primarily disassembled and was placed in storage in the Pollers' warehouse. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 6; Vol. I. Tr. P. 168).

In July 2013, Deb Poller (“Deb”), originally from Spencer, Iowa, was visiting her family in Northwest Iowa and visited the OCC’s shop. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 7-8). OCC had recently opened a museum of restored antique cars and was also in the business of repairing and restoring antique cars of all varieties. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 7). During this initial visit, Deb inquired about OCC taking over the restoration of the ’31 Chevy. (Vol. Tr. P. 10). She met with Bob Kirschbaum, one of OCC’s managers, to discuss the restoration of the ’31 Chevy. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 8-10; Vol. II. Tr. P. 95). During this meeting, Deb generally discussed what the Pollers would be looking for in the restoration and also generally inquired as to the potential costs of the work. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 149 – 150). Regarding the costs, Mr. Kirschbaum told Deb that the goal is to not spend more on the car than what it was worth. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 149-150).

After returning to New Jersey, the Pollers discussed having OCC performing the restoration of the ’31 Chevy and ultimately decided to have OCC perform the work. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 10-11). In the fall of 2013, the Pollers decided to that OCC would perform the restoration of the ’31 Chevy. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 10-11). By November of 2013, Deb had arranged the shipment of the ’31 Chevy. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 11; APP-112, Exhibit 2).

However, prior to shipping the '31 Chevy, Deb wanted to obtain an estimate from OCC as to the full expected costs of restoration and sent an email to OCC's office manager April Torrence. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 11-12; APP-112, Exhibit 2). Ms. Torrence forwarded the email to OCC's shop manager Dennis Linn ("Linn"). (APP-113, Exhibit 3; Vol. II. Tr. P. 72). On November 6, 2013, Linn emailed Deb that he could not provide an estimate because OCC had not seen the car in person yet. (APP-113, Exhibit 3). Additionally, he stated that it is OCC's policy to not provide any estimates on repair work, however they charge \$65 per hour plus the costs of materials. (APP-113, Exhibit 3). Several employees confirmed that OCC has a stated policy to never provide estimates to a customer. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 184-186; Vol. II. Tr. P. 68; Vol. II. Tr. P. 107-108)

OCC eventually received the car on November 26, 2013. (APP-114, Exhibit 4). By all accounts, the car was in good shape and in good condition. (APP-114, Exhibit 4; Vol. I. Tr. P. 152-154). Mr. Kirschbaum was present when the car arrived and did the unpacking of the vehicle from shipping. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 152). He stated that the car appeared to be in excellent condition and contained all major parts such as the chassis, body, engine, radiator, etc. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 152-154). The sheet metal also

appeared to be in excellent condition except for some minor surface rust from the transport and a dent near the roof. (APP-114, Exhibit 4; Vol. I. Tr. P. 40; Vol. II. Tr. P. 14-15). At this time, OCC notified the Pollers that the vehicle would not be completed for the next 1 ½ to 2 years. (APP-114, Exhibit 4). Upon learning of this, Deb sent an email objecting to this request and stated that it was agreed that the car would be available by the summer of 2014. (APP-114, Exhibit 4; APP-127, Exhibit C P. 5). OCC responded by stating that they would move the car up to accommodate that time frame. (APP-127, Exhibit C P. 5). OCC then began to do some minor work on the car to get it ready to be restored, but at this time, the Pollers had not discussed what was to be fully done to the car. (APP-127, Exhibit C P. 5). However, the Pollers notified OCC that they would be coming to OCC between Christmas and New Years and they could discuss these items at this time. (APP-127, Exhibit C P. 5; Vol. I. Tr. P. 163-164).

The Pollers arrived at OCC on December 27, 2013. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 19). During this December 27, 2013 meeting, Deb discussed placing a deposit down payment for the work performed on the '31 Chevy with Ms. Torrence. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 21). OCC had never taken a down payment

before but allowed the Pollers to provide a down payment of \$10,000. (Vol. II. Tr. P. 73). Additionally, Ms. Torrence indicated to Deb that OCC would be providing monthly invoices to the Pollers so they could track the costs of the project. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 21-22). This was a new policy for OCC and was being implemented at the start of 2014. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 189; Vol II. Tr. P. 98). According to Linn, the reasons for this change in policy was that OCC was wanting to provide more information for the customer as the project was being completed. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 189-190).

During this visit with OCC, the Pollers discussed what they wanted to have done to the '31 Chevy. Pursuant to the notes Linn took during this meeting, OCC was to restore the '31 Chevy to its original condition, with only slight modifications to the paint color and the implementation of a stereo. (APP-410, Exhibit D). Also, in their meetings with OCC, the Pollers (specifically Al Poller) discussed the estimated costs of the project with employees of OCC. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 20; Vol. I. Tr. P. 172). In these discussions, OCC stated that the car would cost between \$40,000 - \$45,000 to complete. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 20; Vol. I. Tr. P. 172). Agreeing with this estimate, the Pollers allowed OCC to complete the restoration of the '31 Chevy. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 20; Vol. I. Tr. P. 172).

Over the next several months, OCC continued to perform work on the '31 Chevy and would occasionally send emails to the Pollers to let them see the progress on the car. (APP-123, Exhibit C). The Pollers were also asked to make several determinations regarding various aspects of the restoration. (APP-123, Exhibit C). In June 2014, OCC notified the Pollers that they were not going to make the mid-August time frame that was originally agreed upon. (APP-186, 202, Exhibit C P. 64 & P. 80). In July 2014, Deb visited OCC to check on the progress of the '31 Chevy. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 27). During this July 2014 visit, Deb spoke with Ms. Torrence about sending monthly invoices. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 27). At the time of this meeting, OCC had not provided any invoices to the Pollers or given any update as to the costs spent up to that date. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 27).

By August 2014, the Pollers had not received any monthly billing invoices from OCC. (APP-115, Exhibit 6). On August 1, 2014, Linn emailed several photos of the '31 Chevy to the Pollers and requested that the Pollers put some more money down for the work completed. (APP-115, Exhibit 6). On August 5, 2014, the Pollers responded that, to date, they had not received any of the monthly invoices that were promised in December 2013 and that they were requesting all of the invoices be sent

to date. (APP-115, Exhibit 6). On August 6, 2014, the Pollers received six (6) invoices from OCC. (APP-412-453, Exhibits F1 – F6). According to these invoices, OCC had used the \$10,000 initial down payment and the Pollers owed an additional \$39,560.27. (APP-412-453, Exhibits F1 – F6). Flabbergasted by the amount of money being requested, the Pollers requested itemization of all the work that had been done and a breakdown of the costs for the work that had been performed. (APP-116, Exhibit 7; Vol. I. Tr. P. 53). Before this request was completed, OCC sent another invoice at the end of August indicating that over \$25,000 worth of work had been completed since the August 6, 2014 invoices were submitted. (APP-117, Exhibit F7).

Pursuant to the Pollers' understanding as to the costs of the project, they continued to make payments on the outstanding balance until they reached the agreed upon amount of \$45,000. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 30 – 31; APP-119, Exhibit 11). This last payment was provided on November 13, 2014. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 30 – 31; APP-119, Exhibit 11). At that time, after given credit for the \$45,000 already paid, OCC was requesting an additional \$50,694.93. (APP-411, Exhibit F). By December 31, 2014, OCC's alleged final outstanding bill was \$66,705.70. (APP-411, Exhibit F).

Deb and her son visited OCC on December 26, 2017 in an attempt to see the completed '31 Chevy. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 31; APP-117, Exhibit 8). However, OCC refused to allow the Pollers to see the car until the bill was paid in full. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 31 – 33; APP-117, Exhibit 8; APP-118, Exhibit 9). At this time, the Pollers had only seen the car through pictures and at the one visit in July 2013. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 32). Based upon the terms of the agreement from December 2013, the Pollers refused to pay any more money on the '31 Chevy. (Vol. I Tr. P. 30 – 31). In January 2013, the Pollers arranged to have an appraiser view the car so that they could seek insurance, but OCC also refused to allow the appraiser view the '31 Chevy. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 34). The '31 Chevy remains in the possession of OCC and OCC continues to send invoices to the Pollers. (Vol Tr. P. 46). In addition to the amount for the services provided, OCC continues to add monthly storage fees to the Pollers invoices. (Vol. I. Tr. P. 46).

Many additional relevant facts are discussed within the Argument section, *infra*.

ARGUMENT

I. OCC VIOLATED THE MOTOR VEHICLE SERVICE TRADE PRACTICES ACT BY COMMITTING DECEPTIVE PRACTICES OR ACTS

Preservation of Error:

Whether OCC violated Iowa Chapter 537B and Iowa's Consumer Protection Act was presented and decided by the district court. (APP , Order following Trial). Accordingly, error was preserved. *See Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002). ("It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal.") (citing *Metz v. Amoco Oil Co.*, 581 N.W.2d 597, 600 (Iowa 1998)).

Standard of Review:

The standard of review in cases tried to the court are reviewed "for correction of errors at law, and findings of fact in jury waived cases shall have the effect of a special verdict." Iowa R. App. P. 6.907. Appellate courts "are bound by the trial court's findings of fact if they are supported by substantial evidence." *Harrington v. Univ. of N. Iowa*, 726 N.W.2d 363, 365 (Iowa 2007).

Discussion:

Iowa Code Chapter 537B (known as the “Motor Vehicle Service Trade Practices Act”) protects consumers who hire automotive professionals to perform any services and/or repairs to their motor vehicles that are subject to registration. This statute is designed to protect consumers from deceptive practices and acts by individuals providing services and repairs to a motor vehicle. Iowa Code § 537B.2. Iowa’s Motor Vehicle Service Trade Practices Act is similar to acts adopted throughout the country and serves the similar purpose of protecting consumers. One commentator has stated: “In response to the perceived problems of fraud and deceptive practices in the automobile repair industry, a number of jurisdictions have enacted statutes under which automobile repairers are required to conform with certain requirements, such as giving the customer a written estimate of all charges, returning the replaced parts, and informing the customer of his or her rights.” *Automobile Repair Shop’s Duty to Provide Customer with Information, Estimates, ore Replaced Parts, under Automobile Repair Consumer Protection Act*, 78 A.L.R. 6th 97 (originally published 2012). In this case, the Pollers are entitled to protection under Iowa’s Motor vehicle

Service Trade Practices Act and the district court erred in dismissing their claim.

A. Iowa Chapter 573 applies to the Pollers' and OCC's dealings

Iowa Code § 537B.2(1) states that a consumer is “a person contracting for, or intending to contract for, repairs or service upon a motor vehicle used primarily for farm or personal use.” A motor vehicle is defined as a “motor vehicle as defined in section 321.1, which is subject to registration.” Iowa Code § 537B.2(2). Iowa Code § 321.1(42)(a) defines a “motor vehicle” as “a vehicle which is self-propelled and not operated upon rails.” Iowa Code § 537B.2(3) states that a “supplier” is “a person offering to contract for repairs or service upon a motor vehicle.”

First, the Pollers are “consumers” and OCC is a “supplier” as defined in Iowa Code § 537B.2. The Pollers pled and OCC admitted that an agreement was formed for OCC to restore the Pollers’ ’31 Chevy. (APP-5, Amended Petition; APP-52, Amended Answer). Additionally, the types of restoration, repair and service work performed on the ’31 Chevy have been routinely recognized to fall within similar statutory protections of Iowa § 537B.2. *See Levin v. Lewis*, 431 A.2d 157 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1981) (per curiam) (recognizing that “restoration” on

antique cars constitutes a repair or service under New Jersey's Consumer Fraud Act); *see also Morris v. Gregory*, 661 A.2d 712 (Md. 1995) (same under Maryland's Consumer Fraud Act), *Jagodzinski v. Jessup*, 572 N.W.2d 515, 247 (Wis. Ct. App. 1997) (same under Wisconsin's Consumer Fraud Act), *Schreiber v. Kelsey*, 62 Cal.App. 3d Supp. 45, 133 Cal.Rptr. 508 (1976) (same under California's Consumer Fraud Act), and *Webb v. Ray*, 688 P. 2d 534 (Wash. Ct. App. 1984) (same under Washington state's Consumer Fraud Act), *Schuster v. Dragone Classic Motor Cars, Inc.*, 98 F.Supp.2d 441, 448-49 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (same under Connecticut's Consumer Fraud Act).

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