#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

AL POLLER AND DEB POLLER,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

Supreme Court No. 19-0875

VS.

OKOBOJI CLASSIC CARS, LLC,

Defendant-Appellee.

Dickinson County Case No. LACV027926

# APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR DICKINSON COUNTY THE HONORABLE DON E. COURTNEY

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

John R. Walker, Jr. AT0008222 Jordan M. Talsma AT0012799 for BEECHER, FIELD, WALKER, MORRIS, HOFFMAN & JOHNSON, P.C. 620 Lafayette Street, Suite 300 P.O. Box 178 Waterloo, IA 50704-0178 Ph: (319) 234-1766 Fax (319) 234-1225

E-mail: jwalker@beecherlaw.com

italsma@beecherlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

##

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

When Deb was questioned on cross-examination, she did not deny that the Plaintiffs failed to produce this e-mail, but rather, offered an explanation for the failure, i.e. that her business had been broken into and that all of her computers were stolen around the time of the Defendant's discovery request. (Tr. 1 p. 72, ln. 23 to p. 73, ln. 18). In other words, the Plaintiffs asked the court not only to believe that the physical removal of computers from Deb's office had an effect on the information stored in her web-based/hosted electronic Hotmail account, but that the only information lost in the process was an e-mail demonstrating the falsity of an allegation the Pollers needed to establish to prove their claim for consumer fraud. Paragraph 9 of the Amended Petition states the following: OCC refused to provide an estimate as to the costs of the services or an estimate as to the costs of the complete restoration. (App. p. 6)(Emphasis added). To argue that Deb's testimony strains credulity would be a gross understatement.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DENIED PLAINTIFFS' CAUSE OF ACTION FOR CONSUMER FRAUD.

<u>Preservation for Appellate Review</u>: The Defendant agrees with the Plaintiffs that this issue was preserved for appellate review.

<u>Scope of Review</u>: The Defendant agrees with Plaintiffs that the standard of review is for correction of errors at law.

# A. The district court correctly determined that OCC did not violate any provision of Chapter 537B of the Iowa Code.

The Plaintiffs' claim they are entitled to damages under I.C.A. §714H.5 on the grounds that Defendant violated several different provisions of the MVSTPA, i.e. I.C.A. §537B.3 and subsections 1, 3, 5, 6 and 12 of I.C.A. 537B.6. (Plaintiff's Proof Brief ("Pl. Br.") pp. 18-33). The district court correctly determined that the Pollers were not entitled to damages because OCC did not violate any of these sections. (App. pp. 96-99). The Plaintiffs' argument that OCC failed to comply with Section 537B.3 is based on two faulty premises. First, the Pollers proceed on the assumption that a form containing the language set forth in Section 537B.3(1) is mandated under all circumstances in which a supplier performs repairs or service on a motor vehicle. This is false. Section 537B.3(1) clearly states that this language is required "[i]f a consumer authorizes, in writing, repairs or service upon a motor vehicle prior to the commencement of the repairs or service. . ." I.C.A. §537B.3(1). As the district court points out in the Order, the Pollers did not authorize the restoration of the 1931 Chevrolet in writing,

but rather, by shipping, in a series of separate crates, the disassembled vehicle parts to OCC after receiving Mr. Linn's e-mail regarding OCC's policy on estimates. (App. p. 97). Hence, Section 537B.3(1) is inapplicable.

For purposes of their argument that OCC violated Section 537B.3, the Pollers also assume, incorrectly, that use of the term "estimate" in Section 537B.3 means an estimate as to the total price of the repairs or services. On the contrary, the text of Section 537B indicates that the legislature clearly contemplated that suppliers would not be able to offer total price estimates in some circumstances. Accordingly, Section 537B.3(2) states, "[i]f the nature of repairs or service is unknown at the time that the estimate is given, the supplier may state an hourly charge for the work." *I.C.A.* §537B.3(2). This is an important point, because the Plaintiffs cite cases from other jurisdictions in which the legislatures have not provided this option explicitly. See Morris v. Gregory, 661 A.2d 712, 714-716 (Md. Ct. App. 1995)(citing Maryland Automobile Repair Facility Act §14-1002); Schreiber v. Kelsey, 122 62 Cal.App.3d Supp. 45, fn. 1 (Ca. Ct. App. 1976)(citing California Bus. & Prof. Code §9884.9(a)). In another case cited by the Plaintiffs, Levin v. Lewis, 431 A.2d 157 (N.J. App. 1981), the Administrative Law Judge who determined that the automotive repair dealer, Earl Lewis, had violated New Jersey's Consumer Fraud Act, noted

specifically that Lewis did not tell the consumer that he worked only on a time/materials basis, the implication being that if he had done so, there would have been no violation. *Levin*, 431 A.2d at 157-158.

OCC did exactly what was required by I.C.A. §537B.3(2) when Deb requested a "quote" for the restoration of the 1931 Chevrolet. Mr. Linn's email of November 6, 2013 complied with Section 537B.3(2), as it was provided to the Pollers prior to the commencement of the restoration, and it indicated that OCC charged \$65.00 per hour plus materials for its services. (App. pp. 113, 123). Because OCC complied with Section 537.3, it did not engage in a deceptive act or practice under subsection (1) of I.C.A. §537B.6. *I.C.A.* §537B.6(1).

The Pollers also claim that OCC violated four additional subsections of I.C.A. §537B.6, i.e. subsections 3, 5, 6, and 12. That the district court did not believe the Pollers' claim that OCC employees communicated that the cost of restoration would not exceed \$45,000 is fatal to their argument that OCC violated both Section 537B.6(3) and Section 537B.6(12) of the Iowa Code. Subsection 3 provides that it is a deceptive practice to fail to obtain authorization "for the anticipated cost of any additional, unforeseen, but necessary repairs or services when the cost of those repairs or services amount to more than ten percent, excluding tax of the original estimate

requested by consumer." *I.C.A.* §537B.6(3). Subsection 12 provides that it is a deceptive act of practice for a supplier to "[m]aterially and intentionally understate or misstate the estimated cost of the repairs or service." *I.C.A.* §537B.6(12). Because the district court determined the Pollers' claim that they were provided with a price ceiling of \$45,000 was not credible, the only way the Plaintiffs can show that OCC violated either of these subsections is by demonstrating that it did not abide by its quoted rate of \$65 an hour. The Pollers do not even attempt to make this argument in their Proof Brief, because it is plain that the argument is baseless. Hence, their claim that OCC violated subsections 3 and 12 of I.C.A. §537B.6 must fail.

Moreover, as the district court emphasized in the order, each and every task performed by OCC, which included "numerous modifications and change orders to the original scope defined in December 27, 2013," was authorized. (App. pp. 98-99). The record contains overwhelming support for the district court's finding. (Tr. 2 p. 10, ln. 24 to p. 13, ln. 15; App. pp. 139-140, 156-157, 177-178, 181, 188, 202-203, 208, 211). For this reason, the Plaintiffs' claim that OCC violated subsection 6 of I.C.A. §537B.6 by charging for repairs or services which were not authorized also fails. *I.C.A. §537B.6*(6). It bears emphasizing that while the Pollers originally wanted the vehicle "pretty much stock," they always contemplated some

modifications, including a change to the paint color of the vehicle, the addition of a stereo, and a new, custom-made interior. (Tr. 2 p. 18, ln. 5-23; App. pp. 89, 156). As it turns out, the process of preparing the car for painting (i.e. sanding, buffing, priming, etc.) and the painting itself were very detailed and time consuming, as evidenced not only by Mr. Linn's testimony, but by numerous communications between OCC and the Pollers and by the daily logs documenting the time spent on these aspects of the restoration. (Tr. 2 p. 41, ln. 13 to p. 44, ln. 4; App. pp. 140-141, 149-154, 156-161, 169-172, 181-188, 201, 204-205, 413-417, 425, 442, 448, 470, 513, 541, 562, 573). OCC kept the Pollers informed of the progress on the 1931 Chevrolet, and the Pollers approved numerous modifications and upgrades during the restoration process, even after being presented with invoices of well over \$45,000. (App. pp. 226-287, 309-353).

The Pollers argument that the Defendant violated I.C.A. §537B.6(6) because they did not authorize OCC to perform a "show quality" restoration is also unavailing. (Pl. Br. p. 32-33). It was well within the district court's discretion to credit Mr. Linn's testimony that OCC performs only "show quality" restorations, notwithstanding the fact that Defendants' Exhibit D does not use this precise term. (Pl. Br. p. 32; Tr. 2 p. 8, ln. 4-8). In fact, on August 1, 2014, Mr. Linn sent an e-mail to the Pollers in which he stated,

"[f]ront fenders have been color sanded and buffed. Again it takes a lot of time, but show quality when finished." (App. p. 238)(Emphasis added). Even if this evidence were not in the record, the Pollers could not demonstrate a violation of Chapter 537B simply by demonstrating that they did not want OCC to perform a "show quality" restoration. Throughout the restoration process, when OCC presented the Pollers with a choice between a cheaper more cost effective option and a more costly option that would produce a higher quality vehicle, the Pollers chose the latter. (Tr. 2 p. 8, ln. 4-12). Whether the Pollers believed the original modifications they requested to the paint and the interior of the 1931 Chevrolet, or the later modifications and change orders they authorized were being made for the purpose of producing a "show quality" restoration is not relevant for purposes of Section 537B.6(6). This section requires only that the "repairs or service" be authorized by the consumer, not that they be authorized for a particular purpose or with a particular mindset. I.C.A. §537B.6(6).

The Plaintiffs also claim that they did not authorize any mark-up of the costs of materials that were purchased wholesale by OCC. (Pl. Br. p. 31). Again, the Plaintiffs rely on a faulty premise to support their argument, for they assume that Mr. Linn's quote of "\$65.00 an hour plus materials" bound OCC to charge \$65.00 an hour plus materials *at wholesale cost*. But

materials at wholesale cost, and both Mr. Linn and Ms. Torrence testified that it was customary in the automobile industry for sellers who purchase parts at wholesale price to mark-up this price when the parts are sold at retail to consumers, and that their previous employers followed this practice. (Tr. 2 p. 21, ln. 23 to p. 22, ln. 21; p. 69, ln. 17 to p. 70, ln. 13). Ms. Torrence also testified that even with the mark-up, there were instances in which customers still received a discount when the price charged by OCC for a part was compared to the retail price of that part, and the district court found this testimony to be credible. (Tr. 2 p. 70, ln. 14-17; App. p. 101).

Moreover, the record indicates that OCC did not attempt to hide this practice from the Plaintiffs. The Pollers received copies of the invoices itemizing each of OCC's retail charges for parts, as well as copies of the bills OCC received from outside vendors, which reflected the wholesale prices OCC paid to these vendors. On August 1, 2014, Mr. Linn sent an email about the new core and rebuilt radiator for the 1931 Chevrolet to the Pollers. Mr. Linn stated in this e-mail, "[o]ur cost was \$2080 and we will not be marking it up for you." (App. p. 208). This e-mail serves as an acknowledgement that OCC's general practice is to mark up the wholesale cost it pays for parts from outside vendors, for if this were not OCC's

general practice, it would have been unnecessary for Mr. Linn to make a contrary assurance in this particular instance. Since the Plaintiffs cannot demonstrate that OCC represented that they would be providing materials to the Pollers at wholesale cost, and because the MVSTPA does not require them to do so, the Plaintiffs' claim that OCC's mark-up of the wholesale costs for parts and materials violates Chapter 537B also fails.

Finally, the Pollers argue that OCC violated subsection 5 of I.C.A. §537B.6, which prohibits suppliers from "failing to disclose prior to the commencement of any repairs or service, that a charge will be made for disassembly, reassembly . . . or any other work not directly related to the actual performance of the repairs or service." I.C.A. §537B.6(5). On pages 35 through 38 of their Proof Brief, the Pollers list forty-seven different tasks they do not believe OCC is entitled to be paid for, but they fail to explain why these tasks are not "directly related" to the performance of the "repairs or service" they authorized. (Pl. Br. pp. 35-38). Presumably, many of these tasks were included because the log entries include words such as "disassemble," "assemble," and "dismantle," which are similar to the words used in I.C.A. §537B.6(5). OCC was tasked with performing a total restoration on a completely disassembled vehicle, which arrived at OCC in a series of crates, many parts of which needed to be replaced and rebuilt. For

this reason, it simply cannot be said that these tasks were not "directly related" to the service the Pollers hired OCC to perform. As such, charges for these services do not come within the prohibition in I.C.A. §537B.6(5).

The district court's Order reveals that it engaged in an exceedingly thorough review of the record before determining that "the detailed invoices Plaintiffs requested [show] that every charge OCC imposed was directly related to the restoration of the Plaintiffs '31 Chevy." (App. pp. 98-99). OCC did spend significant time on tasks and incurred expenses which were not "directly related" to the restoration of the 1931 Chevrolet, i.e. time spent looking at and ordering parts, travel time necessary to retrieve parts, mileage costs, etc. However, Mr. Linn testified at trial that the Pollers were not charged for any of these tasks or expenses. (Tr. 2 p. 8, ln. 24 to p. 10, ln. 15). Accordingly, the district court's determination that OCC complied with Section 537B.6(5) of the Iowa Code was completely justified.

B. Alternatively, the Court should affirm the decision of the district court because Chapter 537B of the Iowa Code is not applicable to the present dispute.

The Defendant argued in the district court that Chapter 537B was not applicable to the present dispute. Because it determined that OCC ultimately complied with the requirements of the MVSTPA, it was unnecessary for the district court to address this argument in the Order.

However, the Plaintiffs do address the issues relevant to OCC's argument in their Proof Brief. (Pl. Br. pp. 20-22). The Defendant submits that the district court's finding that OCC complied with all of the requirements of Chapter 537B was well reasoned and should be affirmed. This finding, by itself, provides sufficient basis for denying the Plaintiffs' cause of action for consumer fraud. Therefore, if the Court agrees with the district court's finding, it is not necessary to address the Defendant's alternative argument on appeal.

However, the Court may affirm the district court on any basis argued by the appellee in the district court and urged on appeal, even if the issue was not reached by the district court. See *Northeast Community School District v. Easton Valley Community School District*, 857 N.W.2d 488, 491 (Iowa 2014)(citing *In re Estate of Voss*, 553 N.W.2d 878, 879 n. 1 (Iowa 1996), *Johnson Equip. Corp. v. Indus. Indem.*, 489 N.W.2d 13, 17 (Iowa 1992), and *Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local Union No. 238 v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n*, 394 N.W.2d 375, 378 (Iowa 1986)). Hence, if the Court is not convinced that OCC complied with Chapter 537B, it should affirm the district court's decision denying Plaintiff's action for consumer fraud on the alternative ground that the transaction between the Pollers and OCC is not covered by the MVSTPA.

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